Presented to the Interdisciplinary Studies Program:

UNIVERSITY OF OREGON APPLIED INFORMATION MANAGEMENT Applied Information Management and the Graduate School of the University of Oregon in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

# Benefits of Successful Adoption of Online Channels by Pet Care Small Businesses

University of Oregon Applied Information Management Program

CAPSTONE REPORT

John E. Holloway IV

Academic Extension 1277 University of Oregon Eugene, OR 97403-1277 (800) 824-2714

Fall 2017

Approved by

Dr. Kara McFall Director, AIM Program

# Benefits of Successful Adoption of Online Channels by Pet Care Small Businesses

John E. Holloway IV

## Abstract

Pet care small businesses risk failure if they do not successfully adopt technologies that can make pet ownership easier and more affordable for their customers. Pet care providers and investors will gain insight into opportunities for technology to make pet ownership easier and more affordable and accessible. The literature reviewed was published between 2012 and 2017. This study is significant because the pet care services industry is rapidly growing, but often lacks the technologies to attract pet owners.

Keywords: pet care provider, e-commerce, m-commerce, technology adoption, online channels

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Introduction to the Annotated Bibliography	6
Problem Statement	6
Purpose Statement	10
Research Question	10
Audience Description	10
Search Report	
Annotated Bibliography	17
Introduction	17
Category 1: Benefits of Online Channels	17
Category 2: Online Strategies for Pet Care Services	
Category 3: Successful Small Businesses Adoption and Use of Online Channels	
Conclusion	44
Benefits of online channels	44
Online strategies for pet care services	45
Successful Small Business Adoption and Use of Online Channels	
Summary	50
References	52

## Introduction to the Annotated Bibliography

#### **Problem Statement**

Small business enterprises (SBEs) lacking the ability to utilize technology may face business failure in the future (Turner & Endres, 2017). Small businesses are "individuals who conceive, launch, and assume the risk for new economic activities in the form of a business venture" (Turner & Endres, 2017, p. 1). The U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) defines a small business as an independent business employing less than 500 employees (SBA, 2016). In addition to employing fewer people, SBEs historically have been wary to adopt technology versus large companies, a decision which contributes to high failure rates (Beatty, 2017).

Jeansson, Nikou, Lundqvist, Marcusson, Sell and Walden posit that small companies cannot rely solely on in-person customer interactions, noting the growth of electronic commerce and mobile commerce in importance (2017). Electronic commerce, or ecommerce, is defined as a business activity transacted electronically to improve competitive advantage related to selling products and services (Hamad, Elbeltagi, Jones, & El-Gohary, 2015); mobile e-commerce, or m-commerce (Hubert, Blut, Brock, Backhaus & Eberhardt, 2017), allows "consumers to conduct online transactions via handheld devices" (Li, Dong, & Chen, 2012, p.121, para. 1).

E-commerce has substantial potential to foster the growth of small business (Kurnia, Choudrie, Mahbubur, & Alzougool, 2015). Web-enabled systems allow SBEs to share information about and permit online purchases of products and services (Bi, Davison, & Smyrnios, 2017). Conducting business electronically also helps companies grow, discover new markets, and outperform market competitors (Bi, Davison, & Smyrnios, 2017). The use of technologies like e-commerce and m-commerce offers companies the capability to reach a larger

6

market without expanding their physical business presence (Kurnia, Choudrie, Mahbubur, & Alzougool, 2015). Online technologies like e-commerce also offer an edge to small businesses when competing with larger businesses (Mack, Marie-Pierre, & Redican, 2017).

M-commerce represents a rapidly growing share of e-commerce (Egol & Hodson, 2013), and can be leveraged to connect consumers with businesses through Internet-connected devices known as smartphones (Reinhart & Naatus, 2017). According to Kim, Li, and Kim (2015), the vast growth of smartphone ownership has paved the way for increases in online shopping using smartphones. A smartphone is a "mobile phone (also known as a cell phone or cell mobile) with an advanced mobile operating system that combines features of a personal computer" (Calinici, 2017, p. 1). Data provided by the Pew Research Center indicates that 95% of Americans own a cell phone, and 74% of adults own a smartphone (Pew Research Center, 2017). Sales of smartphones and smart devices are predicted to reach \$132 billion in 2018 (Li, Dong, & Chen, 2012).

Hubert, Blut, Brock, Backhaus and Eberhardt (2017) state that more than one-third of ecommerce is being executed using smart devices, and add "smartphones are also the predominant driver of growth of mobile e-commerce" (Hubert, Blut, Brock, Backhaus & Eberhardt, 2017, para. 1). The growth of smartphone ownership has also given rise to a proliferation of mobile apps (Reinhart & Naatus, 2017), defined as "software programs designed specifically to run on mobile devices" (West, Hall, Hanson, Barnes, Giraud-Carrier, & Barrett, 2012, para. 2). Reinhart and Naatus (2017) declare "it is easier than ever for consumers to instantly research, review and buy products with a small device in their hands" (p. 28).

Smartphones and smart devices and the apps that run on them have changed the way consumers search for, evaluate, and purchase products and services (Rigby, 2014). The

expansion into a new online channel such as m-commerce opens the door for small businesses to take advantage of opportunities in the market, grow their customer bases, and continue to serve existing customers (Jeansson, Nikou, Lundqvist, Marcusson, Sell & Walden, 2017). By utilizing the m-commerce channel, SBEs experience a greater level of access to consumers than e-commerce alone (Lee, & Wong, 2016).

John Beatty of the *Harvard Business Review* asserts that small businesses are the "back bone of our country" (Beatty, 2017, para. 1), and adds that these small businesses have "yet to come online" (Beatty, 2017, para. 1) like other e-commerce businesses who have embraced technology to increase value (Beatty, 2017). Seventy-four percent of small businesses do not participate in online channels like e-commerce and m-commerce (Sephy, 2017). There is a gap in the ability of small businesses to capitalize on mobile technology that would allow consumers to shop and pay for products and services via their mobile device or smartphone (Hillman & Neustaedter, 2017). Chou, Chuang, and Shao (2016) note "nontrivial challenges of developing effective business strategies and generating revenues by exploiting mobile technologies has prevented many firms from initiating m-commerce" (p. 1). Sephy (2017) concludes, "Ecommerce sales are skyrocketing and consumers are demanding an easier way to search and pay for products and services, be it just online or more specifically, on their smartphones. If you're not offering this to your customers, there's a chance they'll find a competitor that is" (para. 11).

Pet care small businesses have not leveraged technologies available through smartphones and smart devices (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). Vogelsang and Wagner (2016) posit the smartphone is "key to the future of the veterinary practice" (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016, para. 3). According to the U.S. Census Bureau (2017), in 2015 there were 30,984 veterinary establishments (NAICS 541940) and 16,325 non-veterinary pet care service provider small businesses (NAICS 812910) in the United States, as defined by the U.S. Small Business Administration. Small businesses encompassing veterinary and pet care services show promise in customer use and adoption of online and mobile technology (Howard, 2017).

Dr. Adam Little, DVM, director of veterinary innovation and entrepreneurship at Texas A & M University, notes that smartphones are a means of offering pet owners better pet care services (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). Dr. Karen Felsted, DVM, CVPM, MS, CPA concurs, adding that by eliminating burdens placed on pet owners through technology, pet owners will become more focused on pet care (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). A survey of 610 pet owners indicated that 40% of pet owners want to be able to order medications, and 50% of pet owners would like to be able to schedule pet care services, via a mobile app (Howard, 2017). Dr. Ernest E. Ward Jr. DVM (2017) suggests a new wave of pet owners are demanding the ability to find information, shop, book appointments, communicate, and procure pet records through online channels. Ward (2017) admits the rise of online savvy pet owners is "one reason I started offering clients an iPad" (Ward, 2017, para. 5).

Gabay, Moskowitz, Rotondo, and Aspros (2014) point out that the growth in pet and smartphone ownership may "open up new opportunities for veterinarians to offer their services and market to clients, based on satisfying the client needs, and the perceived needs of the pets" (p. 3). Sixty-five percent of U.S. households owned at least one pet in 2016 (Tiben, 2016), while 77% of adults owned smartphones (Pew Research Center, 2017). The evolving synergies of increasing numbers of pet owners and of smartphone owners and the growth in technology innovation in e-commerce and m-commerce tools suggest that opportunities may exist for small business pet service providers to create online offerings of pet care services and products.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this annotated bibliography is to present literature addressing the gap in online channel utilization by pet care small businesses, the benefits of utilizing online channels, and the successful adoption of online technologies by small businesses. The information in this study will provide pet-centric small businesses insight into the advantages e-commerce and mcommerce offer related to business growth and consumer satisfaction. Venture capitalists and angel investors may also be informed by this study as it relates to investing in technologies which provide small pet service businesses the ability to take advantage of new online channels.

### **Research Question**

What online channel solutions can small pet service provider businesses use to grow their businesses?

#### Sub-question.

1. How can small businesses use e-commerce and m-commerce technologies to market to pet owners who own smartphones?

#### **Audience Description**

The intended audience for this study includes pet service provider small businesses, veterinary service providers, angel investors, and venture capitalists.

**Pet service provider small businesses.** Pet care services are defined by the North America Classification System (NAICS) under code 812910 as grooming, boarding, training, and sitting (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). Pet service providers stand to benefit from this study by learning how online tools can be leveraged to stimulate business growth and expand sales and profits. **Veterinary service providers.** Veterinary service providers are defined by the NAICS under code 541940 as licensed veterinary establishments that practice veterinary medicine, dental services, or surgical services (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.). Veterinary service providers stand to benefit from this study by learning how online tools can be leveraged to stimulate business growth and expand sales and profits.

**Angel Investor(s)**. Angel investors are private investors offer funding to start-up companies during the early stages of company launch (Ding, Sun, & Au, 2014). Angel investors also provide managerial and/or entrepreneurial guidance, access to their networks, and serve as board members, and mentors (Collewaert & Sapienza, 2016). Angel investors will benefit from the study by understanding the problem posed by lack of adoption of e-commerce and m-commerce technologies by pet service provider small businesses and determining if a proposed solution to the problem is worthy of an investment of capital.

**Venture Capitalist(s).** Venture capitalist(s) (VC(s)) are individuals, groups of individuals or companies who provide capital, management, and access to larger business networks (Tian, Xu, Gu, & Herrera-Viedma, 2017). Venture capitalists will benefit from this study by becoming informed about the technological challenges small pet service provider businesses are facing. This knowledge will assist venture capitalists in accurately assessing potential opportunities afforded to these businesses by e-commerce and m-commerce applications. In their study titled *Strike a happy medium: The effect of IT knowledge on venture capitalists' overconfidence in IT investments*, Singh, Aggarwal and Cojuharenco (2015) argue that by increasing a venture capitalist's knowledge of Information Technology (IT), overconfidence in the related investment may be reduced.

### **Search Report**

**Search strategy.** The initial business problem is complex, as there are multiple inputs to consider before narrowing the topic to a succinct business problem and subsequent research question. Inputs I considered include pet care, veterinary care, pet industry demographics, small business challenges/barriers, small business growth, lack of technology for marketing and process automation, and pet care cost as it relates to the cost of pet ownership.

My strategy was to collect as much relevant scholarly information as possible and supplement the core information to identify whether the problem was adequately described in the literature and worthy of study. I have been able to collect information that either directly or indirectly applies to the study, although not all sources will be included as part of the annotated bibliography.

I considered relevancy a high priority in my applied search strategy. Data published within the last five years (2012-2017) was considered relevant to this study. I assessed information dated 2016 and newer as more valuable compared to information dated from 2012 to 2015. The emphasis on newer, more relevant data will ensure the study is being founded on the latest available knowledge and research.

Databases. I accessed the following databases during the search for sources:

- Academic OneFile.
- Academic Search Premier.
- ACM Digital Library.
- Business Economics and Theory.
- Business Plans Handbook.
- Business Source Complete.

- CiteSeer.
- Computer Database.
- Computer Source.
- Google Scholar.
- JSTOR.
- MarketResearch.com Academic.
- Small Business Resource Center.
- Springer Link.

Journals. I accessed the following journals during the search for sources:

- Harvard Business Review.
- Veterinary Economics.

Search engines. I utilized the following search engines during the search for sources:

- UO Library Quick Search (LibrarySearch).
- Google (to locate veterinary journals).

**Search terms.** I used the following list of keywords across the various search engines and online databases as described in the above sections. Keyword sets delimited by a bulleted list and the use of (AND) represent the use of advanced search functionality offered by search engines and databases, where applicable.

#### Keywords.

- business-to-business (AND) E-commerce.
- m-commerce.
- m-commerce (AND) smartphone.
- peer to peer marketplace.

- peer to peer marketplaces.
- pet care.
- pet care (AND) cost.
- pet health care.
- pet care service marketing growth challenges (AND) "DVM".
- pet ownership.
- pet services.
- pet services (AND) costs.
- pros cons e-commerce SME.
- veterinary care.
- small business (AND) challenge (AND) business development.
- small business (AND) challenge (AND) costs.
- small business (AND) development.
- small business (AND) e-commerce (OR) ecommerce (AND) adoption.
- small business (AND) e-commerce (OR) ecommerce (AND) growth.
- small business (AND) growth.
- small business (AND) marketplace.
- small business (AND) technology (AND) adoption.
- small business (AND) technology (AND) challenges.
- small business ecommerce smartphone.
- small business marketing growth challenges.
- small business challenge.
- small business enterprise.

- small business owners (AND) challenges.
- small business (AND) pet care.
- small business struggles.
- SME technology adoption.
- online marketplace (AND) development.
- online marketplace (AND) peer to peer.
- venture capital.
- venture capitalist.
- venture capitalists.

**Documentation strategy.** The devised documentation strategy consists of two parts: the collection of references and the cataloging of literature.

*Reference collection*. I collected references using two methods. I used Zotero to collect the Digital Object Identifier (DOI) reference metadata and then export the formatted reference with enumeration to a document containing a list of references and accompanying abstracts. I used the citation tools of electronic sources where available and exported the citations with enumeration and accompanying abstracts to the inventory of references document.

*Literature collection*. When available, the literature sources were downloaded in portable document format (PDF) and cataloged into a designated folder. The document was named with the corresponding number and title of the source.

**Evaluation strategy.** The evaluation of literature strategy is built upon the principles defined in Evaluating Information Source documentation (Center for Public Issues, 2014), which provides five criteria for the evaluation of information sources.

*Authority*. Authority was determined by reviewing the author's credentials; the reputation of the author's organization as represented by the organization's membership, mission, and vision; the frequency the article is cited; and subsequent publishing channels such as websites and academic or peer reviewed journals. In the review of additional publishing channels, I took into consideration the affiliation of the author to the channel. An author publishing on a non-academic website was disqualified unless it could be determined with limited effort that the author had received no benefit for the information he or she provided.

*Bias*. I determined bias by reviewing the author's introduction and conclusion sections to ensure the author presented more than personal opinions and avoided sources by authors who sell related products or services.

*Quality*. I assessed the quality of sources by ensuring the literature adhered to proper grammar and spelling deemed acceptable by academic institutions. I gave additional consideration if the document contained embedded characters, as technology may have affected the document output. I did not immediately consider information sources with such concerns unacceptable.

*Relevancy*. I determined relevancy by assessing if the selected information source related to the topic of the study. The Center for Public Issues (2014) suggests considering scholarly articles over magazines, newspapers and non-scholarly bloggers.

*Timeliness*. Timeliness is defined for this study as having been published within the last five years of the commencement of this study. When applicable, exceptions to this boundary are given for information such as definitions.

#### **Annotated Bibliography**

## Introduction

The annotated bibliography for this study is comprised of 15 references focusing on small businesses and their use of e-commerce and m-commerce technologies; the main focus is on pet care service small businesses. The sources identified for this study are sorted into three categories: (a) benefits of online channels, (b) online strategies for pet care services, and (c) successful small business adoption and use of online channels. The sources presented are formatted according to the standards of the American Psychology Association's (APA's) sixth edition guide for referenced sources. The abstract associated with each reference is included with the formatted reference; abstracts deemed lengthy were edited to reduce length. A summarization of the referenced content is provided to demonstrate the relevance of the source to the study. The summary is the opinion of the author(s) of the references being presented.

#### **Category 1: Benefits of Online Channels**

Bang, Y., Lee, D. J., Han, K., Hwang, M., & Ahn, J. H. (2013). Channel capabilities, product characteristics, and the impacts of mobile channel introduction. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 30(2), 101–126. https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222300204

Abstract. Drawing on the notion of channel capability, we develop a theoretical framework for understanding the interactions between mobile and traditional online channels for products with different characteristics. Specifically, we identify two channel capabilities—access and search capabilities—that differentiate mobile and online channels, and two product characteristics that are directly related to the channel capabilities—time criticality and information intensity. Based on this framework, we generate a set of predictions on the differential effects of mobile channel introduction across different product categories. We test

the predictions by applying a counterfactual analysis based on vector autoregression to a large panel data set from a leading e-market in Korea that covers a 28-month period and contains all of the transactions made through the online and mobile channels before and after the mobile channel introduction. Consistent with our theoretical predictions, our results suggest that the performance impact of the mobile channel depends on the two product characteristics and the resulting product-channel fit. We discuss implications for theory and multi-channel strategy.

**Summary.** The authors of this article seek to understand the impact of introducing a mobile channel (m-commerce) into an existing multichannel environment. The authors define multichannel as the inclusion of offline, online, and catalog (i.e., mail order) channels. The authors identify relationships between the channel's capabilities to *time sensitivity of the transaction* and the *amount of information about a product*, which the authors identify as the characteristics of the product. The authors extended the *channels capabilities* framework proposed by Avery, Steenburgh, Deighton, and Caravella (2012) to relate the capabilities of online and mobile channels to product characteristics. The authors also identify how product categories impact channel performance by defining relationships between online and mobile capabilities. The authors use the characteristics of a product to compare performance across product categories.

Using the product-channel fit matrix, the authors concluded that mobile channels are not substitutes for online channels, but instead serve as complements. The authors posit the addition of a mobile channel may reduce order size, but increase the overall number of transactions on online channels and increase overall revenue. The authors found four key differential effects of introducing a mobile channel with the two product characteristics of time criticality and level of information. First, the authors conclude that for products with low levels of information and high time sensitivity, mobile channels outperform online channels due to the immediacy of the mobile channel. Second, the authors posit that for products with high time criticality and high information intensity, a strong synergy existed between the number of transactions on mobile channels and the number on online channels, resulting in a boost in online channel revenue and total revenue. Third, the authors state that for products with low time-criticality and low information intensity, demand is experienced in both channels as a result of the consumer having additional channels for transactions. Finally, the authors suggest that mobile channel introduction has a moderate effect on transactions on traditional online channels for products with characteristics of low time-sensitivity and high information intensity. The authors state that when the online channel fits the product, the mobile channel is less attractive because the mobile channel is not ideal for high information intensity.

This article is important to this study because the authors present a matrix for understanding product-channel fit.

Chou, Y. C., Chuang, H. H.C., & Shao, B. B. M. (2016). The impact of e-retail characteristics on initiating mobile retail services: A modular innovation perspective. *Information & Management*, 53(4), 481–492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2015.11.003

Abstract. The rise and challenges of m-commerce have led to an urgent need to examine how firms adopt the emerging sales channel. Early studies mainly discussed the differences between e-commerce and m-commerce. Our study shows the modular innovation from eretailing to m-retailing, which changes the core component of service delivery but keeps the operations intact, provides more opportunities for well-entrenched firms. Using a dataset of eretailers, we find e-retail characteristics have an impact on firm's migration to the mobile domain. Firms with online service competencies, economies of scale, and physical outlets are more inclined to exploit opportunities provided by mobile technologies.

**Summary.** The authors introduce the concept of modular innovation and suggest the concept can be applied to an organization's adoption of m-commerce where an e-commerce presence already exists. The authors define the modular innovation concept as the change that is made to "a core design concept of a product but reinforces the remaining core components and the existing linkage of components" (para. 7). The authors state the concept applies to m-retailing in part because m-retailing builds upon the architecture of e-retailing.

While service delivery is the main difference between e-retailing and m-retailing, the authors posit the back-end operations and selective front-end capabilities of e-retailing can be leveraged by m-retailing. Order processing functionality such as checking inventory, assigning the order, procuring the order, and shipping the order remain intact regardless of whether the order was made from a PC (e-retailing) or a mobile device (m-retailing).

The authors conclude the service delivery methods of e-retailing and m-retailing do not change the overall business process. Rather, m-retailing inherits and expands on the core capability of e-retailing, making adjustments for the mobile platform and applying the concept of modular innovation. The authors point to the connection between e-commerce and m-commerce as an important service technology for both e-retailers and online marketers.

This source is relevant to this study because the authors demonstrate the importance of an e-commerce presence as a foundational building block to creating a m-commerce channel. The authors posit that a critical success factor is the ability of the mobile channel to inherit functionality from the existing e-commerce channel.

Kim, C., Li, W., & Kim, D. J. (2015). An empirical analysis of factors influencing m-shopping use. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 31(12), 974–994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2015.1085717</u>

Abstract. With the wide popularity of mobile devices such as smartphones and tablets, mobile shopping, which can be conducted anytime and anywhere, has received increased attention and strengthened beyond expectations. This study investigates the factors influencing the use of mobile shopping (**m**-shopping) value from personality, usability, and technology perspectives. The **m**-shopping value that users experience during **m**-shopping can be divided into utilitarian value and hedonic value. The results show that personalization, self-efficacy, intimacy, simplicity, mobility, and connectivity have considerable influence on **m**-shopping value. More specifically, the personalization, simplicity, and connectivity of **m**-shopping influence utilitarian value, as well as hedonic value and shopping value, influences **m**-shopping use.

**Summary.** The purpose of this study was to review the value of mobile shopping (i.e., m-shopping) through the lenses of theoretical and practical implications. Kim, Li, and Kim created a research model to present the interrelationships that exist between three mobile shopping categories (personality, usability, and technology), their six characteristics (personalization, self-efficacy, intimacy, simplicity, mobility, and connectivity), and two derived mobile shopping values (utilitarian and hedonic). The authors define utilitarian as "purchasing products in an efficient and timely manner" (p. 975) and define hedonic as the "emotional benefits, such as enjoyment experienced through shopping in addition to the purchase of products" (p. 975). Using the research model, the authors determined positive relationships exist in the value derived from the characteristics of m-shopping.

The authors identified six practical implications from the study for mobile shopping providers. The authors determined that personalization, defined as consumer-centric features that improve the personality of the channel, has a significant impact on utilitarian and hedonic values. Self-efficacy, defined as a consumer's perception that he or she can buy or sell effectively online, impacted utilitarian but not hedonic values. Simplicity, defined as convenience and ease experienced by the consumer, impacted both hedonic and utilitarian values. Mobility, defined as the convenience of using technology anywhere at any time, impacted hedonic values. Finally, connectivity, defined as the immediacy of access to a network, has a significant effect on both hedonic and utilitarian values. The authors recommended that mobile shopping providers consider the tendencies of their consumers based on the relationships between the personality and simplicity categories and hedonic value.

This article is important to this study because the relationships between m-shopping characteristics and m-shopping values should be understood by small businesses aiming to expand into a new m-commerce online channel.

Reinhart, L., & Naatus, M. K. (2017). Groupon, m-commerce and mobile apps: Perceptions of small business owners and consumers. *Business & Entrepreneurship Journal*, 6(1), 1-3.

Abstract. This study analyzes the digital and mobile commerce market from the perspective of both consumers and small business owners in a particular urban area. Two surveys were conducted, one from a consumer perspective and the second from the small business owners' perspective. The surveys asked about use of and perceptions of Groupon and other mobile coupon deals. Preliminary findings suggest that while consumers are likely to use mobile apps to make purchases and save money, small business owners consider Groupon deals risky and are less likely to use them to help drive sales and attract new customers. The paper concludes

with recommendations for business owners to design digital deals that maximize consumer engagement as well as new revenue generation, thus minimizing the risk expressed in the business owner surveys.

**Summary.** The authors present findings from two surveys. The first survey was administered to students, faculty, and friends. The second survey was administered to small business owners in Jersey City and Hoboken, New Jersey. The findings from the surveys give evidence of the trend of consumers adopting mobile apps for commerce. The authors observed from the survey results that small businesses are more reserved and not as willing to embrace new mobile technologies as larger businesses.

The authors point to the rapid rise in m-commerce and the benefits to businesses of participating in social couponing. In parallel with the rise of m-commerce, the authors suggest that social discount channels have gained a greater acceptance among consumers. The authors state that mobile commerce technologies can be used by small businesses to drive sales and attract new customers or to advertise a new business.

In interpreting survey data collected for the article, the authors note differences in the acceptance of new technologies among business owners. The authors point out that the variation in acceptance was seen across age, gender, race, ethnicity, and the type of product or service being offered. The authors state that out of 50 businesses surveyed, 26% had tried an online deal app. The authors observed that while half of the participants were satisfied with their experience, half were not satisfied. The authors stated that owners who had not used online deal technologies cited concerns about poor results experienced by colleagues and negative stories about significant financial loss due to poor execution of an online deal as reasons why they had not participated.

23

The authors caution businesses who offer products rather than services from participating in online deals. The authors provide additional caution to both service and product-oriented businesses regarding offering a free product or service, noting that such deals are less likely to convert a participant into a repeat customer. The authors acknowledge online deal platforms can help build brand recognition in a local market.

This source is important to this study because it speaks to the hesitancy of small businesses to adopt new online channel technologies like m-commerce.

#### **Category 2: Online Strategies for Pet Care Services**

Chen, T. S., Chen, T. L., Chung, Y. F., Huang, Y. M., Chen, T. C., Wang, H., & Wei, W. (2016). Implementation of online veterinary hospital on cloud platform. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 40(6), 147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0501-x</u>

Abstract. Pet markets involve in great commercial possibilities, which boost thriving development of veterinary hospital businesses. The service tends to intensive competition and diversified channel environment. Information technology is integrated for developing the veterinary hospital cloud service platform. The platform contains not only pet medical services but veterinary hospital management and services. In the study, QR Code and cloud technology are applied to establish the veterinary hospital cloud service platform for pet search by labeling a pet's identification with QR Code. This technology can break the restriction on veterinary hospital inspection in different areas and allows veterinary hospitals receiving the medical records and information through the exclusive QR Code for more effective inspection. As an interactive platform, the veterinary hospital cloud service platform allows pet owners gaining the knowledge of pet diseases and healthcare. Moreover, pet owners can enquire and communicate with veterinarians through the platform. Also, veterinary hospitals can periodically send

reminders of relevant points and introduce exclusive marketing information with the platform for promoting the service items and establishing individualized marketing. Consequently, veterinary hospitals can increase the profits by information share and create the best solution in such a competitive veterinary market with industry alliance.

**Summary.** The authors of this article present a theoretical cloud-based platform for veterinary hospitals. The authors state the five objectives for the veterinary cloud platform as: (a) pet identification and search service, (b) real-time pet data retrieval, (c) reminder message automation, (d) pet health records, and (e) veterinary cloud service. The authors cite the growing pet adoption rates in Taiwan and the subsequent increasing saturation of veterinary hospitals leading to a reduction in quality care as a driver for this study.

The pet identification and search service introduced by the authors suggests replacing traditional pet tracking chips with QR Code labels that would present an owner or veterinarian with the medical history of the pet when scanned. The authors assert that the real-time nature afforded by the QR code will improve the accuracy of diagnosis and subsequent treatments, a benefit which the authors state would reduce waste.

The authors posit the reminder automation service affords veterinary hospitals the capability to actively remind pet owners of upcoming vaccinations and/or appointments. The authors state veterinarians could develop marketing campaigns to drive business growth. The information to generate these reminders and campaigns is part of the *individualized pet health record*, which contains demographic information about the pet and its owner(s). The authors define each of these services as components of the veterinary hospital cloud service platform, which connects multiple veterinarian hospitals. The authors state that such a system would allow pet owners to better understand their pet's health while improving medical outcomes.

This source is important to this study because the authors conclude the advantages of the proposed system will reduce location constraints by affording pet owners a wider network of veterinary hospitals from which to choose, reduce social resource waste and information costs through the digitization of pet health information, and improve the quality of care provided, resulting in healthier pets. The source therefore validates the benefit of online channels for veterinarians, a specific type of pet care service providers.

Howard, B. (2017, March 27). Apps for veterinary clients: "Why can't I just do it on my smartphone?". Retrieved from <u>http://veterinarynews.dvm360.com/apps-veterinaryclients-why-cant-i-just-do-it-my-smartphone</u>

Abstract. This abstract is provided by the author of this study in the absence of a published abstract. The article attempts to determine the depth of interest of pet owners in using smartphone applications as tools throughout the pet care journey. Dr. Lori Kogan, PhD surveyed 610 pet care owners living in the United States who owned at least one dog or cat and had seen a veterinarian within the last year to determine their levels of interest in using smartphone applications for scheduling appointments, ordering medications and pet food, reviewing office hours, searching for information, and accessing pet health records. The results of the survey are presented and interpreted.

**Summary.** This article provides insights regarding the demand of pet owners for smartphone apps to engage with their veterinarians. The author of the article used survey data collected by Lori Kogan, PhD, in partnership with Vet2Pet to present the types of activities pet owners desire from veterinary apps. The author states "apps continue to be a meaningful way for consumers to connect to businesses" (Howard, 2017, para. 1), which is corroborated by the study data. Kogan found that 55% of pet owners want the option of accessing their pet's medical records through online channels, 50% want the ability to schedule appointments online, 40% want the ability to order medications, and 34% want the ability to order pet food online.

The data presented in this article is relevant to understanding the market demand from pet owners for online channels like e-commerce and m-commerce that enable them to interact with their pet care service providers using smartphone applications rather than traditional channels. The survey results indicate that pet owners prefer smartphone applications rather than phone calls to order pet food and pet medications.

Vogelsang, J. & Wagner, J. (2016, October 19). A utopian future for veterinary medicine: How tech will get us there. Retrieved from <u>http://veterinarybusiness.dvm360.com/utopian-</u> future-veterinary-medicine-how-tech-will-get-us-there

**Abstract.** This abstract is provided by the author of this study in the absence of a published abstract. Jessica Vogelsang, DVM and Adrienne Wagner, DVM discuss the promise of smartphone use in veterinary practices. Vogelsang and Wagner present insights attained from Dr. Adam Little, who is the Director of Veterinary Innovation and Entrepreneurship at Texas A & M University, and Karen Felsted, DVM, CVPM, MS, CPA.

**Summary.** This article reviews the smartphone technologies available to veterinarians to reduce costs, increase efficiency, and improve veterinary-client relationships. The authors present two uses of technology within veterinary practices. The first use is to assist in running the day-to-day operations of the practices. The authors state that Adam Little, DVM has recommended that software be used for manual activities typically associated with running a veterinary practice, resulting in higher levels of efficiency and productivity. The authors note that Karen Felsted, DVM, CVPM, MS, CPA has posited that technology will help reduce the time-consuming tasks placed on pet owners associated with veterinary visits and improve the

conversation with the veterinarian. Felsted states, "The more tech-oriented the practice, the more you value the most efficient use of the pet owner's time, the more you'll see the perceived value of your services increase" (para. 9).

The second use of technology presented by the authors is the merging of technology with veterinary medicine. Little presents a future where pet sample collections will take place in the home using advanced techniques and apps to support the acquisition and interpretation of data, reducing the cost to the pet owner and time spent by veterinary resources.

The authors assert that the advance of such technologies may be counterintuitive for veterinarians, citing a reduction in office visits, currently a revenue-generating channel. The authors added that acceptance of new technologies can be hard for veterinarians if they do not see a positive impact to the practice in a short timeframe. To address this hurdle, the authors provided three recommendations; veterinarians need to: begin thinking like entrepreneurs relating to new technologies; become early adopters through collaboration with other pet care providers and by partnering with companies developing solutions; and obtain support from other veterinarians facing similar challenges and problems.

This article demonstrates the usefulness of smartphone-enabled technologies in the pet care services market. The improved efficiencies in operating a practice include the buying and selling of pet medications and food, activities which are often manual and can be automated through the use of e-commerce and m-commerce technologies.

#### **Category 3: Successful Small Businesses Adoption and Use of Online Channels**

Ajmal, F., Yasin, N.M., & Norman, A.A. (2017). Critical success factors influencing ecommerce adoption in SMEs: A review and mode. *International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences*, 4(7): 159-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.21833/ijaas.2017.07.023</u> Abstract. This paper attempts to identify and evaluate the success factors that influence e-commerce adoption in SMEs and develop a conceptual model based on identified factors. A detailed literature search covering the past 26 years has been conducted. This literature search results in finding a total of 32 critical success factors of e-commerce in SMEs that are divided into seven main categories, namely: technical, individual, implementation, environmental, security, privacy, and organization. This paper will list, discuss, analyse, and evaluate these ecommerce success factors and explains how it will allow business to integrate e-commerce in their businesses.

**Summary.** The authors state that the purpose of this article is to identify critical success factors affecting the adoption of e-commerce by small-to-medium enterprises (SMEs), and to develop a conceptual e-commerce adoption model. The authors reviewed literature related to e-commerce between the years of 1991 and 2017.

The authors posit that SMEs are interested in adopting e-commerce because of the associated benefits of customer relationship improvements, business process improvements, and cost reductions. The authors acknowledge e-commerce adoption among SMEs is low, and suggest that SMEs are waiting to see if the return on investment will exceed the cost of adoption and implementation.

In their e-commerce success factor model (Figure 1), the authors identified 32 sub-factors identified during their literature review and placed them into one of eight independent generalized factors: (a) organizational, (b) management, (c) technological, (d) individual, (e) implementation, (f) privacy, (g) environmental, and (h) security. The authors state organizations need to consider the factors and sub-factors in the model when implementing e-commerce,

explaining that the factors and sub-factors spotlight obstacles and influences associated with ecommerce implementation.



Figure 1. Conceptual framework for e-commerce success (Ajmal, Yasin, & Norman, 2017).

This article is important to the overarching study because the authors provide a model which defines factors and sub-factors for successful e-commerce adoption to be considered by small businesses when deciding to adopt and subsequently implement e-commerce solutions. Bi, R., Davison, R. M., & Smyrnios, K. X. (2017). E-business and fast growth SMEs. *Small* 

Business Economics, 48(3), 559–576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9788-8.

**Abstract.** This paper tests a theoretical model to evaluate e-business capability and value in the fast growth small-to-medium enterprise (SME) context. We propose that e-business value depends on how fast growth SMEs deploy IT resources, strategic planning, culture, and business partnerships to develop e-business capability and business process competence which help these companies to achieve outstanding business performance. Structural equation modelling is employed to test our theoretical conceptualization on a cohort of 310 Australian fast growth SMEs across different industrial sectors. The results show that IT resources, strategic IT alignment, market orientation, and business partnerships do contribute significantly and indirectly to SME performance through the development of e-business capability and business process competence. Our study provides an initial empirical evidence to understand the relationship between IT and entrepreneurial SME performance. These findings have important implications for research and business practices.

**Summary.** The authors review the process of creating e-business value for small-tomedium enterprises (SMEs). The authors define e-business as the use of Internet-based technologies to perform business activities. The authors posit e-business helps small to medium businesses improve efficiency, conduct information sharing, and improve innovation within the organization, leading to improved sales and operational performance.

The authors presented five findings based on their research: (a) solid IT infrastructure and IT expertise help firms enhance their e-business capabilities, (b) strategic alignment of IT with business objectives is positively linked to e-business capabilities, (c) a positive relationship exists between an organization's ability to capitalize on market opportunities and the capabilities afforded by e-business, (d) external business relationships which include strategic planning and collaboration are associated positively with SME performance, and (e) e-business is positively associated with business process competence.

This article relates to the problem presented in the study because it demonstrates the importance of IT infrastructure, IT competence, strategic partnerships, and market penetration in relation to successful e-business and the overall success of small businesses.

Ghobakhloo, M., Hong, T. S., Sabouri, M. S., & Zulkifli, N. (2012). Strategies for successful information technology adoption in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Information*, 3(4), 36–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/info3010036</u>

Abstract. Information Technology (IT) adoption is an important field of study in a number of areas, which include small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). Due to the numerous advantages of IT, SMEs are trying to adopt IT applications to support their businesses. IT adoption by SMEs differs from larger organizations because of their specific characteristics, such as resources constraints. Therefore, this research aims to provide a better and clearer understanding of IT adoption within SMEs by reviewing and analyzing current IT literature. In this research, the review of literature includes theories, perspectives, empirical research and case studies related to IT adoption, in particular within SMEs from various databases such as Business Premier, Science Direct, JStor, Emerald Insight and Springer Link. The proposed model of effective IT adoption is believed to provide managers, vendors, consultants and governments with a practical synopsis of the IT adoption process in SMEs, which will in turn assist them to be successful with IT institutionalization within these businesses.

**Summary.** The authors' stated goal of this article was to explore factors influencing the adoption of information technology (IT) in small-to-medium enterprises (SMEs). The authors identified top management, resources, organizational behavior and characteristics, IT products in the market, external and competitive pressure, and external IT consultants and vendors as factors identified that influence the adoption of IT by SME.

The authors identified factors associated with top management that directly influenced the adoption of IT including:

- Attitude toward IT.
- Perception of IT.
- Support of IT.
- Commitment to IT.
- Knowledge of IT.
- Experience with IT.
- Level of innovation with regard to IT.
- Amount of control over IT.

Resource availability to small businesses also acts as a determinant of the adoption of IT. The authors note these resources are recognized as financial, technical, managerial, information accessibility, expertise (internal and external), and market penetration. The authors found that abundance or lack of these resources directly impacts the adoption of IT.

Factors contributing to the influence of organizational behavior and characteristics include business size, organizational change and culture, family involvement, relationship to change, and planning. The authors state that these factors are considered significant in regard to the successful adoption of IT.

External pressure from competitors can influence a firm's decision to adopt technology in order to sell new products and services to customers and gain a competitive advantage. The authors point out that capitulating to consumer wants is a driver in the adoption of new technology and serves as a decision which may drive business growth.

The authors suggest the technology products available to SMEs may be an influencing factor on IT adoption. The authors posit that easy-to-use technologies are better suited for small

businesses. Security, compatibility, and cost were also found to be significant factors contributing to the adoption of IT.

External IT consultants are external factors related to the successful implementation of IT by SMEs. The authors state consultants have a positive impact on the adoption process due to their knowledge and expertise. The authors caution that SMEs should consider the financial implications imposed by external consultants, stating consultants are expensive resources and that their solutions may not always be the best solution for an SME.

This article has significance to the study because as small businesses begin to adopt technology, small business leaders need to understand the internal and external influences and factors impacting IT adoption.

Jeansson, J., Nikou, S., Lundqvist, S., Marcusson, L., Sell, A., & Walden, P. (2017). SMEs' online channel expansion: value creating activities. *Electronic Markets*, 27(1), 49–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-016-0234-1

Abstract. SMEs are faced with new business opportunities through online channels, i.e., electronic commerce and mobile commerce. The model by which they create and capture value is challenged, making the adoption of a business model that fits the organisation a crucial strategic decision. The purpose of this paper is to study value creating activities taken by SMEs when making a transition to an online multichannel context. Sixteen SMEs in Sweden are studied using a qualitative research approach and through the lens of an e-transit business model configuration. The results show that SMEs are required to take various value creating activities denoted as primary and secondary transition activities and that there is a discrepancy between actions taken and their perceived degree of importance. One main conclusion is that the combination of value creating activities an SME should focus on during different stages of an

online channel expansion differ depending on the type of transition (e.g., from physical store to electronic commerce or from electronic commerce to mobile commerce) and will change over time.

**Summary.** The authors describe how small-to-medium enterprises (SMEs) approach the expansion into new online channels from a business model perspective. Based on the analysis of the interview data collected from 16 SMEs in Sweden, the authors determined that for SMEs, the move from e-commerce to include m-commerce is less intense than the expansion of SMEs from a purely physical channel into an electronic channel. The authors add that the three evaluations most commonly observed across the three transition categories were increasing revenue, building relationships, and maximizing resources. The authors state SMEs allocated resources where needed in order to ensure a smooth transition regardless of the transition type.

The authors identify the existence of three business channels, traditional (physical), electronic, and mobile, and add that it is possible to utilize just one channel, a combination of two of the three, or all three channels. Jeansson, Nikou, Lundqvist, Marcusson, Sell, and Walden state that the expansion into e-commerce and m-commerce will require technology and infrastructure modifications and the ability to create and present a value proposition to customers through these channels. They posit the expansion to digital channels also requires business model changes, with a long-term vision of the firm's place in the market.

This article is important to this study because the authors provide a framework for small businesses to leverage to determine what components are most important to their online channel expansion strategy.

Nguyen, T. H., Newby, M., & Macaulay, M. J. (2015). Information technology adoption in small business: Confirmation of a proposed framework. *Journal of Small Business* 

Management, 53(1), 207-227. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12058

Abstract. This paper investigates which drivers affect information technology (IT) adoption and which factors relate to a successful IT implementation in small businesses, where the adoption rate is traditionally low and the failure rate is high. The findings from this study suggest that customers are the main driving force of IT adoption. When it comes to IT implementation, our results suggest that managers/owner–managers must engage with five factors: organization, internal IT resources, external IT consultants, supplier relations, and customer relations. These findings give further insight into IT adoption in small businesses and highlight the importance of customer relations in the adoption process.

**Summary.** The authors' purpose for this article builds on the idea that there is no single factor contributing to the low rates of information technology (IT) adoption or the high rate of IT failure in small businesses. The authors identify the following factors that influence the successes/failures of IT in small businesses: organization, internal IT resources, external IT consultants, supplier relations, and customer relations.

The authors reviewed the results of survey data from 284 small businesses. The authors conclude small business are likely to adopt IT to (a) improve products and services, (b) meet customer requirements, (c) grow the business, (d) improve quality, and (e) control costs. According to the authors, the top reason for adopting IT was to meet customer requirements, suggesting customers are a driving force in the decision to adopt. The authors add that market competition moves firms to adapt to customer demands. The second most prevalent reason found for adopting IT was the desire for business growth. The authors note a strong relationship between IT, growth, and innovation, commenting that for businesses to grow and innovate, they need to adopt technology.

The authors found that the organization factor, defined as a firm's management, staff, culture, and knowledge, has a direct and positive relationship on the success of IT implementation. The authors note internal IT resources, such as IT capabilities, abilities, and capacities, need to be supported by employees and perceived with a positive attitude by owners and managers to support the success of IT implementations. The authors determine it is the responsibility of both management and employees to help facilitate the adoption of a new technology.

According to the authors, the use of external IT resources such as consultants is commonplace among small businesses due to the lack of expertise within the small business, adding the external IT resource factor has a direct and positive relationship to successful IT adoption. The authors state the impact is because external consultants are not employed by the small business, but often remain in a consulting role after the implementation completes. Creating integration with suppliers, which ensures compatibility of systems and collaboration, also positively impacts IT adoption, according to the authors. The authors posit small businesses are shifting to becoming more customer-centric, affirming success rates in IT implementation increase when customers are considered. The authors conclude by stating owners of small businesses must understand IT's purpose before adoption can take place.

This article is relevant to the study because the research conducted by the authors illustrates factors small businesses must consider when deciding to adopt new technology. Peltier, J. W., Zhao, Y., & Schibrowsky, J. A. (2012). Technology adoption by small businesses: An exploratory study of the interrelationships of owner and environmental factors. *International Small Business Journal*, *30*(4), 406–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242610365512 Abstract. An integrative small business adoption of a technology model, which incorporates consumer and organizational behavior theories, is developed and tested to explore the direct and indirect impacts of owner and environmental factors on information technology adoption. Through structural equations modeling we present and test a conceptual framework that examines the interrelationships between owner-related characteristics and perceptions, and environmental-related constructs to predict the adoption of information technology by small retailers. The results indicate that all the tested variables affect the adoption of technology by small businesses directly and/or indirectly through mediating variables. The study advances the literature by creating a small business technology adoption model (SBTAM) that highlights the importance of examining interrelationships between the independent variables. The results have significant implications pertaining to organizations interested in marketing technological innovations to retailers and for small retailers that use this technology.

**Summary.** The authors' focus for this article was a study of the adoption of information technology (IT) by small business retail firms. The authors identified factors and created a framework for the study comprised of: (a) characteristics of the owner, (b) view of technology by the owner, and (c) owner's view of environmental turbulence.

The authors shared direct effects and interrelationships that exist in small firms that are deciding to adopt new technology. In their analysis, the authors discovered that product knowledge positively influenced both the adoption of technology and the assessment of the technology's relative advantage. They also uncovered that owners with a positive attitude toward change and risk were more likely to adopt a new technology as a result of increased product knowledge and environmental hostility and are more likely to adopt new technologies within their industry. The authors assert that the age of the small business owner does not present a

major impact to the decision to adopt technology, but that owner age did have a negative influence on product knowledge and subsequently an indirect effect on their view of the costs and relative advantages of technology. The authors found that a small business owner's education had a positive impact on the adoption of technology and product knowledge.

The authors found that relative advantage had a positive influence on the decision to adopt technology and acts a major factor for adoption. The authors determined there was not a negative relationship between the cost of switching to new technologies and the decision to adopt a new technology, but that higher switching costs affected the perception of relative advantage negatively. The authors discovered that market uncertainty had a direct impact on the decision to adopt technology. They deduced that firms that focus on solving consumer-centric problems have a higher likelihood of creating new technology. The authors noted that environmental hostility presented a direct impact on the decision of small business owners to adopt technology as well as a direct impact on relative advantage.

This article is important to the study because the authors show that variables such as small business owner's age and education, the costs of new technology, and market conditions are factors that affect the decision to adopt a new technology.

Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small-business owners' success rates. International Journal of Applied Management & Technology, 16(1), 34-49.

doi:10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.03

Abstract. Small-business owners represent 99.9% of all U.S. employer firms, employ 48% of the private sector employees, and provide 41.2% of the total U.S. private payroll. However, 50% of new small-business startups fail within the first 5 years of operation. The purpose of this multiple-case study was to explore strategies three small-business coffee shop owners in Duval County, Florida, used to succeed in business beyond 5 years. Three themes emerged from semistructured interviews and methodological triangulation via websites, social media, and site visits: (a) owner networking and designing the business site as a customer networking venue, (b) business plan effectiveness in identifying and addressing initial challenges and subsequent changes, and (c) achieving marketing differentiation.

**Summary.** The authors' stated purpose for this article was to understand the skills, knowledge, and strategies small business owners leverage to operate successful small businesses beyond five years. The authors present three themes for success which arose from their research: owner collaboration and use of business as a networking hub, business plans' effectiveness in identifying and addressing initial challenges and subsequent changes, and achieving differentiation through innovative marketing strategies.

The authors discovered systems theory was applicable to the theme of *owner networking and business as a customer-to-customer networking venue*. The authors conclude that networking activities are in line with systems theory because networking involves interrelationships between internal and external customers and the environment, implying a relationship exists between business needs and the activities required to remain operational.

The authors align chaos theory with their second theme of *business plans' effectiveness in identifying and addressing initial challenges and subsequent changes*. The authors illustrated challenges the owners experienced as a lack of resources, constraints imposed by limited space, customer demands, employee turnover, and decisions regarding investing in new technology. The authors add that small businesses that do not utilize technology as part of their business strategy are at a higher risk of failure. The authors state the constant change experienced by the store owners aligned with systems theory, chaos theory, and complexity theory. The authors

concluded by positing that small business owners need to stay involved with business activities and collaborate with other small business owners, know their customers, and be cognizant of the changes in their industry.

The authors assert that the most successful strategy for a small business is to focus on differentiation. Owners in the article faced competition from franchise businesses and the challenge of achieving differentiation in the market. The authors observed each of the three owners incorporating innovative strategies to achieve differentiation from other franchises. According to the authors, one owner used email campaigns and loyalty programs to set the business apart from the competition, while other owners changed signage and offered a delivery option. All three owners engaged in social media channels as part of their strategies. The authors posit that complexity theory was associated with market differentiation because different factors were observed to be contributing to the success of the small businesses.

This article is important to the study because it presents characteristics of small businesses and their owners that lead to long-term sustainability through innovation using online technologies to drive business growth, customer focus, and willingness to adapt to competitive markets.

Wu, M., Gide, E., Jewell, R., & Zhang, L. (2017). CSFs for SMEs in Measuring e-Commerce Success. In D. Perakovic (Ed.), *E-Business - State of the Art of ICT Based Challenges and Solutions*. InTech. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/66564</u>

Abstract. For the last 20 years, while many electronic business (e-business)/electronic commerce (e-commerce) systems have been successfully adopted in businesses across different industries, a significant number have failed, especially in small to medium enterprises (SMEs). It is therefore necessary to explore critical success factors (CSFs) for SMEs in adopting e-

41

commerce success. A blend of quantitative and qualitative research methods were used, consisting of literature review, focus group studies, pilot tests, and surveys. Total survey was of 11.54% (277 out of 2401). Data analysis procedures were adopted, which comprised initial reliability analysis, validity analysis, t-testing, factor analysis, and detailed reliability analysis. As a result, a total of 15 items were identified as common CSFs for SMEs successfully adopting e-commerce system, which could be adopted as an effective tool for assisting SMEs in effectively adopting e-commerce systems, and as a yardstick further to develop new methods for measuring e-commerce success.

**Summary.** The authors of this article present critical success factors (CSFs) for the adopting e-commerce by small-to-medium enterprises (SMEs). The authors outline reasons for measuring the successful adoption of e-commerce and describe the difficulties associated with measurement activities. The reasons for measuring the success of e-commerce in SMEs are to (a) avoid failure; (b) gain knowledge from successful adoption of e-commerce by other companies; (c) develop tools and best practices; (d) capture adoption guideline requirements; and (e) make future improvements and developments to e-commerce systems.

The authors state that the lack of buy-in from management contributes to the failure of ecommerce adoption and add that organizations that lack an e-commerce framework should start with basics of implementing e-commerce. The authors posit e-commerce systems are different than traditional systems found in organizations, arguing that e-commerce systems are more challenging to implement.

The authors suggest a challenge with e-commerce is the need for more than just technical expertise. They argue that a successful e-commerce program is about strategy, not technology. They acknowledge successful e-commerce solutions require more than just a website, and further

state that the scope of e-commerce solutions is broader than managing technology and quality; successful solutions require leaders to sync strategies, business processes, brands and technologies. According to the authors, e-commerce success is difficult to measure due to a lack of historical data and experience developing and implementing metrics to evaluate its success.

The authors conclude by stating an understanding of CSFs does not guarantee ecommerce success, but improves the success rate, adding that a better understanding of the CSFs related to e-commerce is key to measuring the success of e-commerce.

The authors' approach for successful e-commerce adoption includes: (a) providing guidelines for planning their e-commerce implementations, (b) providing SMEs with existing e-commerce system tools to measure effectiveness and efficiency of the implementations, and (c) adopting e-commerce strategies for continuous improvement. The authors add that e-commerce service providers (ESPs) must better understand the CSFs, business processes, and expectations of SMEs during the adoption phase.

This article is relevant to the study because small businesses lacking technological expertise are at risk for failure when implementing e-commerce. Additionally, the article provides guidance for understanding the challenges faced by SMEs adopting e-commerce solutions and demonstrates the importance of being able to measure the success of e-commerce.

#### Conclusion

Small businesses in today's economy that are not utilizing technology as part of their business strategy are at a higher risk of failure than those that have embraced technology (Turner & Endres, 2017). Pet care service providers, a small business according to the U.S. Census Bureau (2017), do not as a group fully leverage smart device technologies (Howard, 2017). A study of pet owners showed that many want the abilities to use their smartphones for everything from accessing pet health records to ordering medication for their pets (Howard, 2017). The demand from pet owners for online channels to access pet care and procure pet supplies indicates pet care providers have an opportunity to adopt new online technologies such as electronic commerce (e-commerce) and mobile commerce (m-commerce) (Howard, 2017). Due to various factors associated with technology adoption, small businesses face challenges in successful implementation (Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015).

The 15 selected pieces of literature found in the Annotated Bibliography were chosen to showcase the opportunity for pet care providers to adopt new technologies and take advantage of the rapid growth in pet ownership and in the pet industry in general. The literature selected focuses on: (a) online strategies for pet care services, (b) benefits of online channels, and (c) factors attributing to successful small business adoption and use of online channels.

#### **Benefits of online channels**

Cloud-based veterinary and pet health management systems like the system proposed by Chen et al. (2016) provide examples of the advantages of utilizing online technologies to provide care for pets. Chen et al. (2016) proposed a centralized veterinary system which would provide veterinarians and pet owners with the ability to communicate with veterinarians, retrieve pet health records from any location, and allow veterinarians to market to new and existing clients. Mobile channels offer businesses the ability to create a personalized shopping experience for consumers, allowing them to shop easily and conveniently from anywhere at any time provided there is a connection to the Internet (Kim, Li, & Kim, 2015). Kim, Li, and Kim (2015) assert that mobile channels provide utilitarian and hedonic values to the consumer, defined as "purchasing products in an efficient and timely manner" (p. 975) and "emotional benefits, such as enjoyment experienced through shopping in addition to the purchase of products" (p. 975), respectively.

According to a study conducted by Dr. Lori Kogan, pet owners would like to use their smartphones for a variety of activities related to pet care (Howard, 2017). Fifty-five percent want the ability to access their pet's health records, 50% would like to be able to schedule veterinary visits, 40% would like to be able to purchase pet medications, and 34% want to be able to order pet supplies such as food (Howard, 2017). The growth in smartphones and innovations relying on smartphone technologies has opened new opportunities for veterinarians to adopt an online strategy (Howard, 2017).

The demand from pet owners for pet care providers to provide mobile alternatives suggests smartphone apps provide a useful channel for pet owners to connect with veterinarians (Howard, 2017). Veterinarians are able to provide a higher quality of care, reduce costs associated with pet care, and spend more time focusing on building relationships with pet owners, relationships which can lead to improved pet health outcomes (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016).

#### **Online strategies for pet care services**

Adam Little, DVM, Director of Veterinary Innovation and Entrepreneurship at Texas A & M University, suggests pet care providers begin thinking like entrepreneurs related to new

technologies (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). Little's recommendations are to become early adopters through collaboration with other pet care providers, partner with companies developing solutions, and obtain support from other veterinarians facing similar challenges and problems (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). Little further encourages pet care providers to investigate the benefits of technologies like electronic and mobile channels (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016). Looking into future uses of technology, Little envisions the collection of pet samples in the home using advanced techniques and apps to support the acquisition and interpretation of data, reducing the cost to the pet owner and time spent by veterinary resources (Vogelsang & Wagner, 2016).

For businesses considering the adoption of online channels, Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang and Ahn (2013) suggest consideration be given to product-channel fit. With the capability to access and search for products and services anytime from anywhere using a mobile channel, Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang and Ahn (2013) suggest products and services have dimensions of time sensitivity and levels of information intensity that, when considered with the access and search capabilities of either the mobile or online channel, impact the product-channel fit. The product-channel matrix devised by Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang and Ahn (2013) demonstrates that some products and services offer greater value when accessed through mobile channels than electronic channels. When a product or service has high time sensitivity and high information levels, transaction levels on both mobile and electronic channels are synergized, resulting in a boost to online channel and total revenues (Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang & Ahn, 2013). Conversely, Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang and Ahn (2013) posit that for products and services with low time sensitivity and low levels of information intensity, consumers use both online channels.

The mobile channel outperforms the traditional electronic channel when the product or service the consumer is seeking is highly time sensitive and requires minimal levels of information, whereas when there is minimal time sensitivity and a higher level of information intensity, the mobile channel provides only a moderate impact on the electronic channel (Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang & Ahn, 2013). Bang, Lee, Han, Hwang and Ahn (2013) indicate mobile channels are well-suited for high time sensitivity products and services when the information needed to make a purchase is minimal, suggesting businesses receive a greater value from online channels when the online channel fits the product or service being bought or sold.

Kim, Li, and Kim (2015) recommend that businesses offering a mobile commerce channel consider consumer behavior in relation to personalization and simplification of the shopping experience and the enjoyment received by the consumer during the purchasing of a product or service. Personalization occurs when the m-commerce provider creates a consumercentric experience that is both easy to use for the consumer, but also creates an enjoyable shopping and purchasing experience; for example, the consumer completes the transactions with ease and feels positive about his or her purchase (Kim, Li, & Kim, 2015).

With the rising demand from pet care owners for more access to pet care providers through smartphones (Howard, 2017), small businesses like pet care providers can take advantage of m-commerce technologies to drive business growth (Reinhart & Naatus, 2017). It should be noted however, that mobile commerce is not a substitute for traditional e-commerce channels, but rather, m-commerce serves as a complement to e-commerce; the two channels are complements because m-commerce inherits and expands the capabilities of existing e-commerce technology (Bang, Lee, Hwang & Ahn, 2013). Chou, Chuang, and Shao (2016) identify the primary difference as the method used to access the channel, either via a smartphone or personal computer.

While smartphones and the innovations afforded to veterinarians and pet owners alike reduce pet ownership burdens and improve quality of care, Vogelsang and Wagner (2016) found that veterinarians who are contemplating new technologies generally expect a positive impact on their businesses in the near term but lack the patience required for these new technologies to mature, resulting in hesitancy to fully adopt new technology.

#### Successful Small Business Adoption and Use of Online Channels

There is no single factor contributing to the low rates of IT adoption or the high rate of IT failure in small businesses (Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015), although it is worth noting that moving from an existing e-commerce presence to also include a m-commerce presence requires less effort by the small business (Jeansson et al., 2017). However, for small businesses with only a physical channel, the move to an electronic channel and subsequently a mobile channel is more intense (Jeansson et al., 2017). In order to successfully transition from a physical channel to electronic and mobile channels, influencing factors like leadership, internal and external resources, and technology should be considered (Ajmal, Yasin, & Norman, 2017; Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, & Zulkifli, 2012; Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015; Peltier, Zhao, & Schibrowsky, 2012; Turner & Endres, 2017).

**Leadership.** Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, and Zulkifli (2012) point to factors related to a small business's leadership that directly influence the adoption of IT, which include:

- attitude toward IT,
- perception of IT,
- support of IT,

- commitment to IT,
- knowledge of IT,
- experience with IT,
- level of innovation with regard to IT, and
- amount of control over IT.

Multiple experts agree that leadership has a direct impact on the successful adoption of new technologies (Ajmal, Yasin, & Norman, 2017; Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015; Peltier, Zhao, & Schibrowsky, 2012; Turner & Endres, 2017; Wu, Gide, Jewell, & Zhang, 2017). Wu, Gide, Jewell, and Zhang (2017) argue that a lack of buy-in from management will impact the adoption of online channels negatively, asserting that management should be involved in the adoption and implementation of online channels. Peltier, Zhao, and Schibrowsky (2012) point out characteristics of leadership such as education and product knowledge as factors which positively influence the adoption of technologies. Peltier, Zhao, and Schibrowsky (2012) found that the age of a leader does not impact the decision to adopt technology, but can have a negative impact on product knowledge, leading to an indirect impact on a leader's view of the cost and relative advantage of technology.

Internal and External Resources. Internal IT resources like IT capabilities, abilities, and capacities; and external consultants' technical expertise, both have a direct and positive impact on successful adoption and implementation of new technology (Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015). Nguyen, Newby, and Macaulay (2015) note that internal staff need to be supported by colleagues and perceive support from management in order to successfully implement new technologies. The use of external consultants is common in small businesses and

helps to bridge the gap in IT expertise (Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015), but Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, and Zulkifli (2012) caution that consultant services are expensive and their solutions may not align with the business strategy regarding the adoption of new technology.

**Technology.** Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, and Zulkifli (2012) posit that choosing the right technology may influence the success of the electronic and mobile channel adoption process. When deciding to adopt new technologies, small businesses should consider easy-to-use technologies, as these options are often better suited for small businesses (Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, & Zulkifli, 2012). The relative advantage of **a** technology to solve consumer-centric problems positively impacts the adoption of new technology by a small business (Peltier, Zhao, & Schibrowsky, 2012).

#### **Summary**

Online channel technology adoption among small businesses is low (Ajmal, Yasin, & Norman, 2017). In order to reduce the risk of failure, small businesses need to adopt technologies such as online channels (Turner & Endres, 2017). More than ever, pet owners want the ability to interact with their pet care provider using available technologies, specifically online channels using their smartphones (Howard, 2017). Online channel technologies help small businesses improve efficiency, share information, and improve innovation within the organization, leading to improved sales and customer growth (Bi, Davison, & Smyrnios, 2017; Reinhart & Naatus, 2017).

There are many factors and determinants small business leaders should consider when deciding to adopt online channel technologies (Ajmal, Yasin, & Norman, 2017; Ghobakhloo, Hong, Sabouri, & Zulkifli, 2012; Nguyen, Newby, & Macaulay, 2015; Peltier, Zhao, & Schibrowsky, 2012; Wu, Gide, Jewell, & Zhang, 2017). While Wu, Gide, Jewell, and Zhang

(2017) state that an understanding of success factors does not guarantee desired results, it does improve the success rate. A better understanding of the success factors related to online channels is key for small businesses to successfully adopt and expand to new online channel technologies (Wu, Gide, Jewell, & Zhang, 2017).

#### References

- Ajmal, F., Yasin, N.M., & Norman, A.A. (2017). Critical success factors influencing ecommerce adoption in SMEs: A review and mode. *International Journal of Advanced and Applied Sciences*, 4(7): 159-172. <u>https://doi.org/10.21833/ijaas.2017.07.023</u>
- Avery, J., Steenburgh, T. J., Deighton, J., & Caravella, M. (2012). Adding Bricks to Clicks:
  Predicting the Patterns of Cross-Channel Elasticities Over Time. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(3), 96–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.09.0081</u>
- Bang, Y., Lee, D.J., Han, K., Hwang, M., & Ahn, J.H. (2013). Channel capabilities, product characteristics, and the impacts of mobile channel introduction. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 30(2), 101–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222300204</u>
- Beatty, J. (2017, July 25). How small businesses can increase their digital capabilities. Retrieved from <a href="https://hbr.org/2017/07/how-small-businesses-can-increase-their-digital-capabilities">https://hbr.org/2017/07/how-small-businesses-can-increase-their-digital-capabilities</a>
- Bi, R., Davison, R. M., & Smyrnios, K. X. (2017). E-business and fast growth SMEs. Small Business Economics, 48(3), 559–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9788-8</u>
- Burgess, S. (2016). Representing small business web presence content: the web presence pyramid model. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 25(2), 110–130. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2015.4
- Calinici, T. (2017). Nursing apps for education and practice. *Journal of Health Medical Informatics*, 8(262), 2.
- Center for Public Issues. (2014). Evaluating information sources. Retrieved from <u>http://ae-</u> coursematerials.uoregon.edu/aim/Capstone1Perm/evaluateinfo.pdf
- Changchit, C., & Klaus, T. (2015). An Exploratory Study on Small Business Website Creation and Usage. *Journal of Electronic Commerce in Organizations*, *13*(1).

http://dx.doi.org/10.4018/jeco.2015010101

- Chen, T. S., Chen, T. L., Chung, Y. F., Huang, Y. M., Chen, T. C., Wang, H., & Wei, W. (2016). Implementation of online veterinary hospital on cloud platform. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 40(6), 147. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0501-x
- Chou, Y. C., Chuang, H. H. C., & Shao, B. B. M. (2016). The impact of e-retail characteristics on initiating mobile retail services: A modular innovation perspective. *Information & Management*, 53(4), 481–492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2015.11.003</u>
- Collewaert, V., & Sapienza, H. J. (2016). How Does Angel Investor-Entrepreneur Conflict Affect Venture Innovation? It Depends. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice*, 40(3), 573-597. doi:10.1111/etap.12131
- Ding, Z., Sun, S., & Au, K. (2014). Angel investors' selection criteria: A comparative institutional perspective. Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 31(3), 705-731. doi:10.1007/s10490-014-9374-z
- Egol, M., & Hodson, N. (2013). To compete with e-commerce, retailers need to leverage mobile. *Harvard Business Review Online*. Retrieved from <u>https://hbr.org/2013/12/to-compete-</u> with-e-commerce-retailers-need-to-leverage-mobile
- Gabay, G., Moskowitz, H. R., Rotondo, K. J., & Aspros, D. G. (2014). Understanding the mind of the pet owner for veterinary services. *Services Marketing Quarterly*, 35(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332969.2014.856729</u>
- Ghobakhloo, M., Hong, T. S., Sabouri, M. S., & Zulkifli, N. (2012). Strategies for successful information technology adoption in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Information*, 3(4), 36–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/info3010036</u>

- Gregg, D., & Parthasarathy, M. (2017). Factors affecting the long-term survival of eBay ventures: a longitudinal study. *Small Business Economics*, 49(2), 405–419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9846-x</u>
- Hamad, H., Elbeltagi, I., Jones, P., & El-Gohary, H. (2015). Antecedents of B2B e-commerce adoption and its effect on competitive advantage in manufacturing SMEs. *Strategic Change*, 24(5), 405–428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jsc.2019</u>
- He, W., Wang, F. K., Chen, Y., & Zha, S. (2017). An exploratory investigation of social media adoption by small businesses. *Information Technology and Management*, 18(2), 149–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10799-015-0243-3
- Hillman, S., & Neustaedter, C. (2017). Trust and mobile commerce in North America. Computers in Human Behavior, 70, 10–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.061</u>
- Howard, B. (2017, March 27). Apps for veterinary clients: "Why can't I just do it on my smartphone?". Retrieved from <u>http://veterinarynews.dvm360.com/apps-veterinary-clients-why-cant-i-just-do-it-my-smartphone</u>
- Hubert, M., Blut, M., Brock, C., Backhaus, C., & Eberhardt, T. (2017). Acceptance of smartphone-based mobile shopping: Mobile benefits, customer characteristics, perceived risks, and the impact of application context. *Psychology & Marketing*, *34*(2), 175–194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.20982</u>
- Jeansson, J., Nikou, S., Lundqvist, S., Marcusson, L., Sell, A., & Walden, P. (2017). SMEs' online channel expansion: value creating activities. *Electronic Markets*, 27(1), 49–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-016-0234-1</u>

- Kim, C., Li, W., & Kim, D. J. (2015). An empirical analysis of factors influencing m-shopping use. [Abstract] *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 31(12), 974–994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.20</u>
- Kurnia, S., Choudrie, J., Mahbubur, R. M., & Alzougool, B. (2015). E-commerce technology adoption: A Malaysian grocery SME retail sector study. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(9), 1906–1918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.12.010</u>
- Lee, W. O., & Wong, L. S. (2016). Determinants of mobile commerce customer loyalty in Malaysia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 224, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.400
- Li, M., Dong, Z. Y., & Chen, X. (2012). Factors influencing consumption experience of mobile commerce. *Internet Research; Bradford*, 22(2), 120–141. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/10662241211214539
- Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Marinković, V., & Kalinić, Z. (2017). A SEM-neural network approach for predicting antecedents of m-commerce acceptance. *International Journal of Information Management*, 37(2), 14–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.10.008</u>
- Mack, E. A., Marie-Pierre, L., & Redican, K. (2017). Entrepreneurs' use of Internet and social media applications. *Telecommunications Policy*, 41(2), 120–139.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2016.12.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2016.12.001</a>
- Muk, A. (2013). What factors influence millennials to like brand pages? *Journal of Marketing Analytics*, *1*(3), 127–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jma.2013.12</u>
- Nguyen, T. H., Newby, M., & Macaulay, M. J. (2015). Information technology adoption in small business: Confirmation of a proposed framework. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53(1), 207–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12058</u>

Peltier, J. W., Zhao, Y., & Schibrowsky, J. A. (2012). Technology adoption by small businesses:
An exploratory study of the interrelationships of owner and environmental factors. *International Small Business Journal*, 30(4), 406–431.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242610365512

- Pew Research Center. (2017, January 12). Mobile fact sheet. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/">http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/mobile/</a>
- Phillips-Donaldson, D. (2015, April 1). Baby boomers, step aside: Millennials now own more pets. Retrieved from <u>http://www.petfoodindustry.com/articles/5049-baby-boomers-step-aside-millennials-now-own-more-pets</u>
- Reinhart, L., & Naatus, M. K. (2017). Groupon, m-commerce and mobile apps: Perceptions of small business owners and consumers. *Business & Entrepreneurship Journal*, 6(1), 1-3.
- Rigby, D. K. (2014, August 14). E-Commerce is not eating retail. *Harvard Business Review* Online. Retrieved from <u>https://hbr.org/2014/08/e-commerce-is-not-eating-retail</u>
- Sephy, J. (2017, June 17). 74 percent of small business websites have no eCommerce. Retrieved from https://smallbiztrends.com/2016/06/small-business-ecommerce-trends.html
- Singh, H., Aggarwal, R., & Cojuharenco, I. (2015). Strike a happy medium: The effect of IT knowledge on venture capitalists' overconfidence in IT investments. *MIS Quarterly*, 39(4), 887-908.
- Tian, X., Xu, Z., Gu, J., & Herrera-Viedma, E. (2017). How to select a promising enterprise for venture capitalists with prospect theory under intuitionistic fuzzy circumstance? *Applied Soft Computing*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2017.04.027</u>

Tiben, P. (2016, July 26). The secret economic life of pets. Retrieved from
<a href="https://www.jec.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/republicans/2016/7/the-secret-economic-life-of-pets">https://www.jec.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/republicans/2016/7/the-secret-economic-life-of-pets</a>

- Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small-business owners' success rates.
   *International Journal of Applied Management & Technology*, 16(1), 34-49.
   Doi:10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.03
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). Geography Area Series: County Business Patterns 2015 Business Patterns. Retrieved from

https://factfinder.census.gov/bkmk/table/1.0/en/BP/2015/00A1/0100000US%7C0100000

US.04000.001/naics~541940

U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). Geography Area Series: County Business Patterns

2015 Business Patterns. Retrieved from

https://factfinder.census.gov/bkmk/table/1.0/en/BP/2015/00A2/0100000US%7C0100000

US.04000.001/naics~812910

U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). United States Census Bureau North American Industry Classification System. Retrieved from <u>https://www.census.gov/cgi-</u>

bin/sssd/naics/naicsrch?code=541940&search=2017%20NAICS%20Search

- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). United States Census Bureau North American Industry Classification System. Retrieved from <u>https://www.census.gov/cgi-</u> bin/sssd/naics/naicsrch?code=812910&search=2017%20NAICS%20Search
- U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA). (2016). Frequently asked questions. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/SB-FAQ-2016\_WEB.pdf

- Vogelsang, J. & Wagner, J. (2016, October 19). A utopian future for veterinary medicine: How tech will get us there. Retrieved from <u>http://veterinarybusiness.dvm360.com/utopian-</u> <u>future-veterinary-medicine-how-tech-will-get-us-there</u>
- Ward Jr., E. E. (2017, January 24). Show millennial pet owners that "classic" still rocks. *Veterinary Economics*. Retrieved from <u>http://veterinarybusiness.dvm360.com/show-</u> <u>millennial-pet-owners-classic-still-rocks?pageID=1</u>
- West, J. H., Hall, P. C., Hanson, C. L., Barnes, M. D., Giraud-Carrier, C., & Barrett, J. (2012).
   There's an app for that: Content analysis of paid health and fitness apps. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(3), e72. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1977</u>
- Wu, M., Gide, E., Jewell, R., & Zhang, L. (2017). CSFs for SMEs in Measuring e-Commerce Success. In D. Perakovic (Ed.), *E-Business - State of the Art of ICT Based Challenges* and Solutions. InTech. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/66564</u>